
 
 
 
 

 
TOWN BOARD AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING 
(All items listed for discussion and possible action) 

 

                                                 VIRTUAL MEETING 
 

Thursday, August 5, 2021 
6:30 p.m. 

 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Roll Call of Board Members 
 

4. Audience Participation Period (limit 4 minutes per speaker) 
 

5. Consent Agenda 
a. Approval of Minutes – July 15, 2021 
 

6. For Possible Action 
a. Remote Meeting Participation 

 
7. For Discussion 

a. Group Homes 
b. Master Plan and Municipal Code Update Grant Opportunity 
c. Draft Amendment to Chapter 7 of the Foxfield Municipal Code Concerning 

Animals 
 

9.  Reports  
        a.  Mayor 
        b.  Members of Town Board 
        c.  Staff 
 
10. Future Agenda Items 
 
11. Adjournment 

 
STUDY SESSION - Accessory Dwelling Units 



 
 

 
MINUTES             

 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 

 
July 15, 2021 

 

 
Call to Order/Roll Call 
The virtual meeting was called to order at 6:30 p.m. via Zoom. 
 
The following Trustees were present:  Amy Snell-Johnson, Debby Farreau, Josie Cockrell, Pam 
Thompson, and Mayor Jones.  A quorum was present. 
 
Audience Participation 
Jerry Zoellner, 16915 E. Costilla, suggested using some American Rescue Plan funds for cameras on 
the gates. 
 
Jim Pike, 6788 S. Richfield, commented that the striping at the intersection of Arapahoe Road and 
Richfield overlaps and is confusing. 
 
Consent Agenda 
Mayor Jones moved, seconded by Trustee Snell-Johnson, to approve the following items on the 
Consent Agenda: 
 

a. Approval of Minutes – June 17, 2021 
b. Financial Reports – June 2021 

 
The motion passed by unanimous roll call vote. 
 
For Possible Action 
Resolution 2021-06 Terminating the Order Declaring a Local Disaster  
Mayor Jones moved to approve Resolution 2021-06 Terminating the Order Declaring a Local 
Disaster.  Following a second by Trustee Thompson, the motion passed by unanimous roll call vote. 
 
For Discussion 
American Rescue Plan Funds 
Town Administrator Proctor stated that the Town received an allocation of $196,555.51 of American 
Rescue Plan (ARP) funds.  The first allocation of $98,277.75 was received by the Town on June 28th, 
2021.  She provided the Board with an ARP fact sheet and details on how the funds can be used.  
Some suggestions for the use of the funds were provided to the Board. 
 
Trustee Farreau likes the idea of seeing if the funds can be used for cameras on the gates.  She 
suggested the funds can be used for grants to Foxfield businesses, including home businesses, and 
helping homeowners affected by the pandemic. 
 
Trustee Thompson suggested using some of the funds for tutoring or academic help, outdoor 
recreation, and water infrastructure. 
 
 



 
 
 
 
Town Administrator Proctor will follow up on the suggested uses and procedures for applying for the 
funds and bring the discussion back at a future meeting.  
 
Long Range Financial Forecast 
Town Administrator Proctor presented the updated long range financial forecast. 
 
Remote Meeting Participation 
Discussion was held regarding using a hybrid option for Board meetings. Residents spoke in favor of 
being able to participate remotely.  Trustee Cockrell suggested recording the meeting and posting the 
recordings.  Trustee Farreau asked if a consultant could be hired to suggest and set up the best 
options. The Board requested more information on options and costs to provide a hybrid meeting 
option. 
 
Reports 
Mayor 
Mayor Jones reported that the 4th of July parade and picnic was a success and thanked everyone for 
their help.  Based on recent activity in Foxfield, she is going to see about implementing a 
Neighborhood Watch program.  
 
Members of the Town Board 
Trustee Farreau thanked Vanessa Guzman for the wonderful food she provided at the picnic and the 
professionalism of the young adults that helped serve the food.  She requested a reminder be sent to 
residents about the food drive. 
 
Trustee Cockrell commented that the intersection of Arapahoe Road and Richfield is scary for cyclists. 
She shared a comment received from a resident about the mowing and trimming of the ROWs. Clerk 
Gallivan will follow up with Terracare. 
 
Trustee Thompson reported that Bruce Robinson would like a review of the parade and picnic 
logistics to make improvements for next year and suggested an events committee be formed.  She 
reminded everyone that there is a link to report airport noise on the Foxfield website. Trustee 
Thompson requested further discussion regarding driveway permits.  She would like to schedule an 
open space clean-up day and look at the possibility of a walkway from the end of Norfolk to the Village 
Center. She informed the Board that Senate Bill 21-064 was passed which prevents retaliation against 
elected officials. Trustee Thompson gave a report on speeding data. 
 
Town Staff 
Town Administrator Proctor provided a gate update.  The pavement work at the Fremont gate was 
completed.  IREA needs to now install meters and repair work needs to be done to the damage that 
has already been caused to the loop detector and sensors.  After that work is completed, an event will 
be scheduled to distribute the tags to residents. Staff is working hard to hopefully have the gates 
operational by the end of July. 
 
Future Agenda Items 

• ADUs (additional dwelling units) 

• Group Homes 

• Hybrid Meeting options and costs 

• Update to the Animal Control code sections 

• ARP funds 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
Adjournment 
Mayor Jones adjourned the meeting at 7:39 p.m. 
 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
                                                                       Randi Gallivan, Town Clerk 
 
                   
                             
      _________________________________________  
      Lisa Jones, Mayor  
 



Item # 6a 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:  Mayor Jones and Members of the Board 
 
FROM:  Karen Proctor, Town Administrator 
 
DATE:  August 5, 2021  
 
RE:  Remote Meeting Participation 
 

 
DISCUSSION: 
The Board asked Staff to bring back the options and costs to allow the public to participate in 
Board meetings remotely.  
 
Based on research and recommendations, staff suggests the Board can try the Meeting OWL, 
which has received mixed reviews from other municipalities.  The following link shows a 
demonstration of the Meeting OWL:  https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N_duZc5DZ2c 
 
The estimated cost is: 

Laptop      $1,000 
Meeting OWL Pro    $1,000 
ZOOM to include additional features  $1,000 

    ESTIMATED TOTAL: $3,000 
 
Another option that has been used by others is for each Board member to bring a laptop/tablet 
to the meeting and log into Zoom.  If the Zoom microphone is used and the computer is on 
mute, this prevents feedback and provides a better picture than the meeting OWL. 
 
The Town can use American Rescue Funds for the meeting OWL option.  The only cost for the 
option of each Board member using their personal laptops would be the cost of Zoom at 
approximately $1,000/annually. Staff is seeking the Board’s direction. 
 
 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N_duZc5DZ2c


Item # 7a 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:  Mayor Jones and Members of the Board 
 
FROM:  Karen Proctor, Town Administrator 
 
DATE:  August 5, 2021  
 
RE:  Group Homes 
 

 
DISCUSSION: 
The Board requested information regarding the Town of Foxfield’s authority to regulate group 
homes.  
 
Currently the Foxfield Municipal Code Section 16-2-50 (b)(3)(b) states: 
 
Special review uses: 
 
b. An owner-occupied or nonprofit group home for the aged and homes for the 
developmentally disabled, handicapped and mentally ill, as these terms are defined by Section 
31-23-303, C.R.S., may be permitted if it serves as a permitted principal use and is for no more 
than eight (8) persons, is not located within seven hundred fifty (750) feet of another such 
group home and the owner or operator resides and maintains primary residency within the 
group home. Where nine (9) or more persons are to occupy a group home or if the group home 
is not defined in Section 31-23-303, C.R.S., such group home shall be permitted only upon 
approval of a special review use. 
 
Town Attorney Hoffmann has suggested that the Town could modify its Group Home 
regulations to apply the special review use to all group homes, and not just group homes in 
excess of eight persons. 
 
 
 



Item # 7b 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:  Mayor Jones and Members of the Board 
 
FROM:  Karen Proctor, Town Administrator 
 
DATE:  August 5, 2021  
 
RE:  Master Plan & Municipal Code Update Grant 
 

 
DISCUSSION: 
The Town of Foxfield’s Master Plan was last updated  in 2008 and the municipal code has not 
had a full review since 2012.  The Board has an extensive list of sections in the code to review 
and revise.  It is recommended that the Master Plan be updated at least every five (5) years and 
be done in conjunction with an update to the Municipal Code.  
 
Staff has been looking into the possibility of a grant to help the Town with this project and has 
found an opportunity for the Town to apply for an Administrative Planning Grant through the 
Colorado Department of Local Affairs (DOLA).  Trustee Farreau and I have had a couple of 
meetings with our DOLA Regional Manager, Clay Brown.  He has stated that we are eligible to 
receive up to $25,000 from DOLA, with a match from the Town of $25,000.  The total project 
cost is estimated to be approximately $50,000.  It has been suggested that the Town may be 
able to use some of the American Rescue Plan funds for the $25,000 match, but Staff has not 
yet been able to confirm this. 
 
To apply for these grant funds, the Town need to prepare a request letter that includes the 
following: 
The project scope; 

A budget and timeline; 

Financial need; 

Project urgency and readiness to begin work; 

The energy and mineral impact for the town. 

Is the Board interesting in pursing this grant opportunity?  If so, what timeframe would the 

Board like to set to begin this project?  

 



  Item # 7c 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:  Mayor Jones and Members of the Board 
 
FROM:  Karen Proctor, Town Administrator 
 
DATE:  August 5, 2021  
 
RE: Draft Amendment to Chapter 7 of the Foxfield Municipal Code Concerning 

Animals 

 
DISCUSSION: 
The Town of Foxfield has a contract with Arapahoe County for Animal Control Services and our 
Municipal Code section 7-2-10 is for the most part a duplicate of their code regarding animals.  
Arapahoe County recently updated this section of their code, therefore the Town of Foxfield 
also must update our code to reflect the changes made by Arapahoe County. 
 
The most significant changes to this code section include licensing of dogs will no longer be 
required and the number of animals allowed section has been removed. 
 
A redlined draft amendment of Chapter 7-2-10 of the Foxfield Municipal Code concerning 
animals is attached as exhibit A, along with a clean version as Exhibit B.  
 
Staff will bring an Ordinance adopting these changes to section 7-2-10 to the next meeting. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
Exhibit A: Redlined version of Municipal Code Concerning Animal Control 
Exhibit B:  Clean version of Foxfield Municipal Code Concerning Animal Control 
 
 



Sec. 7-2-10.   Definitions. 

For the purposes of this Article, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  

"Abandon" means the leaving of a pet animal without adequate provisions for the animal's proper 
care by its owner or keeper. 

Aggressive dog means a dog which, without intentional provocation, engages in any of the 
following behaviors:  

a. Threatens a person by encroaching onto public property or property of another from a vehicle 
or from the owner's or custodian's yard through, under or over a fence;  

b. Injures another domestic animal while off the owner's or custodian's property;  

c. Approaches any person in an apparent attitude of attack or in a terrorizing or menacing 
manner; or  

d. Causes bodily injury to any person.  

 Animal Control Services Officer means any person authorized by the Arapahoe County Director 
of the Department of Public Works and Development or any person authorized by said Director, 
including the Arapahoe County Sheriff or a Sheriff's Deputy, to issue summonses and complaints 
enforceing the provisions of this Article pursuant to Section 30-15-105 and 30-15-102, C.R.S., as 
amended, and shall also include the Arapahoe County Sheriff and any Arapahoe County Sheriff's 
Deputy.  

 

"At large" means a dog that is not under physical control or voice control, as defined in this Section 
1, while on public property, or, means a dog that is on private property without the permission of the 
property owner or his/her agent; further, with respect to a dog on a County-owned open space, park, 
or trail, “at large” also means that the dog is in violation of any requirements as stated in Arapahoe 
County displayed signage applicable to dogs on such property (for example, designated signage may 
indicate that all dogs must be under physical control, or indicate that certain areas are off limits to 
dogs).    

 
Attack means an assault against a person or domestic animal, whereby physical contact is made 

in an apparently hostile or terrorizing manner.  

Bite means to seize with teeth or jaws so as to enter, grip, wound or cause a puncture to the skin.  

Bodily injury means anphysical injury to a person or domestic animal resulting in bruising, muscle 
tears, skin lacerations, or broken bones that may or may not require professional medical treatment, 
which may include, but is not limited to, sutures or cosmetic surgery. Such injuries may or may not 
result in permanent disfigurement, protracted loss or impairment of the functions of any part or organ 
of the body, or death.caused by a dog whereby, at a minimum, the skin is broken, exterior bleeding 
occurs or medical treatment by a licensed physician is reasonable necessary.  

"Board" means the Board of County Commissioners of Arapahoe County.    

 
Control means:  

a. Having a dog on a leash, rope or other means of restraint so that freedom of the dog's 
movement is restricted within a ten-foot radius;  

b. Having a dog exclusively within the private property of the owner, keeper or possessor of a 
dog.  

clerk
Typewritten Text

clerk
Typewritten Text
Exhibit A



c. Accompanying a dog on public property when said dog is at all times within twenty (20) feet 
of and immediately responsive to the voice commands of the dog's owner, keeper or 
possessor.  

d. Accompanying a dog on private property with permission of the owner of such private 
property, when said dog is at all times within forty (40) feet of and immediately responsive to 
the voice commands of said dog's owner, keeper or possessor.  

C.R.S. means the Colorado Revised Statutes, as amended.  

"Cruelty to Animals" means to knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence, overdrive, 
overload, overwork, torture, torment, deprive of necessary sustenance, unnecessarily or cruelly beat, 
needlessly mutilate, needlessly kill, carry in or upon any vehicle in a cruel manner, or otherwise 
mistreat or neglect any animal or cause or procure it to be done, or having the charge and custody of 
any animal, fail to provide it with proper food, drink or protection from the weather consistent with the 
species, breed, and type of animal, or abandon the animal. See Sections 35-42-107(2) and 18-9-202, 
C.R.S., as amended. 

 
Custody means providing food, shelter, water, other sustenance or care for a dog.  

Department means the Arapahoe County Department of Public Works and Development, Animal 
Control ServicesDivision section, for Arapahoe County Governement.  

Director means the Director of the Department of Public Works and Development appointed by 
the Arapahoe County Board of County Commissioners or his designeeof Arapahoe County.  

"Dog" means any member of the species Canis familiaris. 
 
Keeper means a person who, or whose unemancipated child under the age of eighteen (18) years 

who resides with said person, has temporary custody of a dog through bailment, loan, entrustment or 
other arrangement between the keeper and owner.  

Owner or Keeper means any person whoeighteen (18) years of age or older, or whose an 
unemancipated child under the age of eighteen (18) years who resides with said person, or the parent 
or guardian of any child under the age of eighteen (18) years who owns, keeps, harbors, possesses, 
has custody of, or is responsible for exercising physical or voice control over a dog or other animal. 
has permanent custody of a dog through purchase, gift, adoption or otherwise.  

Person means any natural person or individual, corporation, business trust, estate, trust, 
partnership, association, business or any other legal entity, but shall exclude all governments, 
governmental subdivisions or governmental agencies.  

   Pet animal means an animal as defined in 30-15-101(3), C.R.S., as amended.any dog, cat or 

other animal owned or kept by a person for companionship or protection or for sale to others for such 
purposes. 

 
"Physical Control" means a dog is on a leash, rope or other means of physical restraint by a 

person physically capable of handling such dog so that freedom of the dog's movement is restricted. 

 
Possessor means a person who, or whose unemancipated child under the age of eighteen (18) 

years who resides with said person, has voluntarily assumed custody of a dog or the responsibility for 
the control of a dog, through means other than as an owner or keeper. A person is not a possessor if 
he, or his unemancipated child under the age of eighteen (18) years who resides with said person, 
assumes temporary custody of a dog for the sole purpose of summoning animal control authorities or 
for the sole purpose of seeking emergency aid or medical treatment for a dog.  

Running at large or runs at large means a dog that is upon public property or upon the private 
property of a person other than the dog's owner, keeper or possessor, when said dog is not under the 
control of the dog's owner, keeper or possessor; or a dog that is upon the private property of a person 



other than the dog's owner, keeper or possessor, without permission from an owner of the private 
property or his agent, even if said dog is under the control of the dog's owner, keeper or possessor.  

Serious bodily injury means an injury to a person or domestic animal caused by a dog which, 
either at the time of the actual injury or at a later time, involves a substantial risk of death, a substantial 
risk of serious permanent disfigurement, a substantial risk of protracted loss or impairment of the 
function of any part or organ of the body or breaks, fractures or injuries that require corrective surgery.  

Vicious dog means:  

a. A dog whose freedom of movement is not restricted by confinement or by attachment to a 
leash, rope or other means of restraint; and which dog, in a dangerous or terrorizing manner, 
has physical contact with a person or domestic animal, with or without causing bodily injury. 
Said restriction shall prevent the escape of such dog from its owner, keeper or possessor or 
from such owner's keeper's or possessor's property; and shall prevent such dog from 
attacking or injuring a human being or domestic animal.  

b. Any dog which has caused bodily injury to a human being or domestic animal during two (2) 
or more separate episodes.  

c. The control provisions of Subparagraphs a. and b. above shall not apply to any dog while 
actually working livestock or assisting law enforcement officers or while being trained for any 
of these pursuits. A dog owned, kept or possessed primarily as a domestic pet on residential 
property shall not be excluded from Subparagraphs a. and b. above and shall not be 
considered a guard or police dog;  

d. Episodes wherein a dog attacked, bit, caused bodily injury, caused serious bodily injury or 
caused death to a human being or domestic animal, when said human being or domestic 
animal intentionally provoked such dog's action without justifiable reason, shall be excluded 
from Subparagraphs a. and b. above.  

e. The exclusions provided for in Subparagraphs c. and d. above shall be affirmative defenses.  

“Voice Control” means a dog is immediately and reliably obedient to any voice or sound command 
given by an owner or keeper who is able to prevent the dog from charging, chasing, or otherwise 
disturbing or interfering with any person, pet animal, livestock, or wildlife, regardless of the distance 
involved or the presence of any distraction or provocation. 

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-20.   Licensing of dogs required. 

(a) Any owner, keeper or possessor of a dog commits a class 2 petty offense if such dog is more than one 
hundred eighty (180) days old and a current license issued by the Director has not been acquired for 
such dog.  

(b) It is the responsibility of any owner, keeper or possessor of a dog to cause such dog to wear at all 
times a metal tag bearing the legible number of a current dog license issued to such dog, as provided 
for in Section 7-2-30 of this Article. At a trial concerning a violation charged under this Section, the 
absence of such tag upon a dog shall be prima facie evidence that such dog was not properly licensed.  

(c) No person charged with violating this Section shall be convicted if he produces to the Court or produces 
to the Director or an Animal Control Officer, where such person has been issued a penalty assessment 
summons and complaint, a license for the dog which was current and in effect on the date of the 
alleged violation concerning such dog.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  



Sec. 7-2-30.   Dog licensing procedure. 

(a) Dog licenses shall be issued by the Director subject to the following requirements:  

(1) A dog license shall not be issued until the owner, keeper or possessor of the dog to be licensed 
provides satisfactory evidence, acceptable to the Director, that a valid rabies vaccination 
certificate has been issued for such dog by a licensed veterinarian;  

(2) A dog licensing fee, as provided for in this Section, shall be paid to the Department.  

(b) Upon completion of the requirements provided for in this Subsection, the Department shall give to the 
person paying the dog licensing fee: a dog license containing the dog owner's name and address; a 
description of the dog; the dog's rabies tag number, the date of the dog's rabies vaccination and the 
license number issued to the dog; and a metal tag bearing the same number of the license issued to 
the dog.  

(c) The Department shall keep a record of the names and addresses of all owners, keepers or possessors 
who license a dog and of all dog licenses which are issued, including the information required and 
contained on such licenses.  

(d) All dog licenses shall expire on December 31 of the year of issue. Renewals shall be obtained by 
March 1 of the following year.  

(e) Dog license fees shall not be prorated, regardless of the month or day within the year upon which a 
dog license is issued or renewed.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-20 Rabies Vaccination Required 

(a) Any owner or keeper of a dog commits a class 2 petty offense or a municipal offense if such dog 
is more than four (4) months of age and the owner or keeper is unable to provide proof when 
requested of a then current rabies vaccination, issued by a licensed veterinarian.  A rabies 
certificate or tag current at the time that it is requested, and supplied by a licensed veterinarian, 
shall serve as proof of rabies vaccination. 

 
(b) An owner or keeper of a dog is exempt from the requirements of this Section 7-2-20 if the owner 

or keeper can produce a signed letter from a licensed veterinarian stating that such vaccination 
would be detrimental to the health and well-being of such dog. 

Sec. 7-2-340.   Dogs not to run Aat Llarge. 

(a) Any owner or, keeper or possessor of a dog commits a class 2 petty offense or a municipal offense if 
such dog runsis found to be at large.  

(b) Any owner, keeper or possessor of a dog commits a class 2 misdemeanor if such dog causes bodily 
injury to any person or domestic animal on two (2) or more separate episodes while running at large.  

(c) Each and every day during which a violation of this Section occurs shall be deemed a separate 
violation.  

(d) A violation of this Section shall not be proven solely by the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness 
unless the witness is an Animal Control Officer. 

(b) The provisions of this Section shall not apply to any dog while working livestock, locating or retrieving 

wild game in season for a licensed hunter, assisting law enforcement officers, performing search and 
rescue functions for an emergency services provider, or while being trained for any of these pursuits.  



(c) A violation of this Section 7-3-40 shall not be proven solely by the uncorroborated testimony of a 
single witness unless the testimony is corroborated by the submission of photographic or video 
evidence, or unless the witness is an Animal Services Officer.  
 

(d) Repeated offenses shall be cumulative only within a 365 day period, counting from the day of the 
last violation.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-450.   Noisy dogs. 

(a) Any owner or, keeper or possessor of a dog commits a class 2 petty offense or a municipal 

offense if such dog individually makes, or in combination with another dog or dogs together, 

makes any noises or disturbances by barking, howling, yelping, whining or other utterance which 

are is audible beyond the premises on which the dog is kept, in excess of twenty (20) consecutive 

minutes during the day (7 a.m. to 9 p.m.) or in excess of ten (10) consecutive minutes during the 

night (9:01 p.m. to 6:59 a.m.) and/or a cumulative period in excess of one-hundred twenty (120) 

minutes during any twenty-four (24) hour period. from an adjacent or nearby property for a 

continuous twenty-minute period, such noises being separated by pauses, however slight, during 

said continuous twenty-minute period.  

 
(b) No citation for a violation of this Section 7-2-40 shall be issued unless at least one written warning, 

signed by the Animal Services Officer and at least one complainant, has been issued to an owner or 
keeper of the dog or dogs that have exceeded the noise limits. Such written warning shall contain the 
date and time when the violation occurred and a brief explanation of the nature of the noise complaint. 
Once a written warning has been issued, a citation may be issued for any violations that occur seven 
(7) or more days after the written warning is issued without the necessity of an additional warning. A 
summons and complaint for a first violation of this Section shall not be issued. First-time violators will 
be issued a warning, which shall be signed by an Animal Control Officer and at least one (1) 
complaining person. Such warning shall contain the dates and times when the violation occurred, brief 
explanation of the nature of the notice complaint and a copy of this Section. No summons and 
complaint shall be issued for subsequent violations unless and until seven (7) days have elapsed 
between the first violation and any subsequent violations. Said initial warning shall be made by 
personal service of said warning to the owner, keeper or possessor of the dog.  

(c) No citation shall be issued and no conviction shall occur for a violation of this Section 7-2-40 unless 
there are two (2) complaining witnesses from separate households who have signed such citation; 
except that only one (1) complaining witness shall be required to sign the citation under either of the 
following circumstances: 

 

 1) An Animal Services Officer or Deputy Sheriff has personally investigated the complaint of a single 
complainant and observed the nature and duration of the noise created by the dog and can testify as 
to such observations; or 

 

 2) A complainant has presented to the Animal Services Officer, at the time of the complaint, a video 
and/or audio recording that corroborates the alleged violation. 

A summons and complaint for a violation of this Section shall be signed by at least two (2) complaining 
persons who are from separate households and are willing to testify at trial, which signatures shall be 
in addition to the required signature of an Animal Control Officer or an Arapahoe County Deputy Sheriff. 



In the event there is only one (1) occupied residence in the immediate area of the location of the 
barking dog, only one (1) complaining witness shall be required to sign the complaint.  

(d) Repeated offenses shall be cumulative only within a 365 day period, counting from the day of the last 
violation. 

A violation of this Section shall not be proven solely by the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness 
unless the witness is an Animal Control Officer.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-50 Cruelty to Animals 

 
 An owner or keeper of an animal commits a violation of this Section, which is also  a class I 

misdemeanor under §18-9-202, C.R.S., as amended, if he/she commits cruelty to animals. 

Sec. 7-2-60.   Approach in an Aggressive Manner dogs. 

Any person who is the owner or, keeper of a dog commits a class 2 petty offense or a municipal offense 
if such dog, while off the owner’s premises and without provocation, approaches any person in an apparent 
attitude of attack and demonstrates aggressive behavior, including but not limited to lunging, snarling, 
growling, barking, or snapping. Such behavior may restrict the movement of a person, including but not 
limited to cornering or circling, and such behavior by such dog may, but need not, result in actual physical 
contact from such or possessor of an aggressive dog, as defined in this Article, commits a class 2 petty 
offense.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-70.   Vicious dogsPet Animal Causing Injury. 

(a) Any person who is the owner or, keeper or possessor of a vicious dog, as defined in this Article, 
of a pet aninmal commits a class 2 petty offensemisdemeanor if such pet animal, whether on or 
off the owner’s premises and whether or not under the physical or voice control of an owner or 
keeper, causes bodily injury to a person. .  
 

(b) Any person who is the owner or, keeper of a pet animal or possessor of a vicious dog, which dog 
has caused bodily injury to another person other than said owner, keeper or possessor or to a domestic 
animal during two (2) or more separate episodes, commits a class 2 misdemeanor. 2 petty offense or a 
municipal offense if such pet animal, causes injury to another pet animal or livestock.   

 

Any owner or keeper of a dog that causes bodily injury as defined by Section 18-9-204.5, C.R.S., may 
be cited for ownership of a dangerous dog as provided in said law. 

  

(c) Any Arapahoe County Animal Control Officer or Deputy Sheriff may seize any vicious dog which is 
running at large, either upon public property or upon private property, when an owner of such private 
property or his agent is not present and the dog is unrestricted on such property. The impoundment of 
such dog shall be at the dog owner's expense.  

(d) After a request in writing by the Director, an Arapahoe County Deputy Sheriff may request a County 
or District Court to issue a search and seizure warrant in accordance with Colorado laws, for the 
purpose of entering upon private property to search for or to seize any vicious dog, when any person 
is refusing to consent to such entry or seizure.  



(e) Animal Control Officers shall immediately impound all dogs seized under this Section. Any dogs 
impounded under this Section shall be under the authority of the Department until a court of proper 
jurisdiction reaches a final determination and issues an order that a seized dog is to be released to its 
owner, keeper or possessor; or is a vicious dog, as defined by this Article, and should be destroyed 
by the Department. When a dog seized under this Article is returned to its owner, keeper or possessor, 
all costs for the care of such dog while in the custody and under the authority of the Department shall 
be borne by Arapahoe County.  

(f) Each and every day during which a violation of this Section occurs shall be deemed a separate 
violation.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-80.   Number of animals allowed. Affirmative Defense 

(a) Any person who is the owner, keeper or possessor of more than four (4) pet animals, including but not 
limited to dogs, cats or small animals older than one hundred eighty (180) days upon residential 
property within the Town, commits a class 2 petty offense.  

(b) Legally permitted and licensed kennels and/or veterinarian offices shall be exempt from the provisions 
of this Section.  

(c) For the purposes of this Section, each lot or parcel which is zoned residential and contains a residential 
structure shall constitute one (1) residential property, and a lot or parcel that is zoned residential with 
no residential structure located thereon shall not be considered a residential property with a right to 
keep or maintain any pet animals as an accessory use.  

(d) Each and every day during which a violation this Section occurs shall be deemed a separate violation.  

(e) A violation of this Section shall not be proven solely by the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness 
unless the witness is an Animal Control Officer.  

(f) Any summons or complaint issued for a violation of this Section shall be signed by at least one (1) 
complaining person, which signature shall be in addition to the required signature of an Animal Control 
Officer or Arapahoe County Deputy Sheriff.  

If a dog or other pet animal is provoked into biting or attacking, which results in bodily injury, such 
provocation shall constitute an affirmative defense. Provocation shall be determined by one or more of 
the following: 
 

(a) That, at the time of the incident, the victim was committing or attempting to commit a criminal 
offense against the dog/pet animal owner or the dog/pet animal owner’s property; or 

 
(b) That, at the time of the incident, the victim tormented, abused, or inflicted injury upon the dog or 

pet animal, which resulted in the incident; or  
 

(c) That, at the time of the incident involving the dog or other pet animal, which caused injury to or 

the death of another animal, the injured and/or deceased animal was at large. 

 

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 10 §1, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-90.   Seizure and Iimpoundment and Disposition of dogsAnimals. 

(a) Animal Control Officers shall seize and impound any dog which is running at large, either upon public 
property or upon private property, when an owner of such private property or his agent has given 



consent to an Animal Control Officer or Deputy Sheriff, to enter upon said private property and to seize 
such dog or to seize a vicious dog for impoundment at the dog's owner's expense, when said dog is 
unrestricted on the owner's property with no owner present.  

(b) The Department shall impound all dogs which have been lawfully seized for running at large or for 
being a vicious dog.  

(c) Upon the impounding of any dog, the Department shall cause written or verbal notice to be given to 
the owner, keeper or possessor (if known) of such dog. Any owner, keeper or possessor of an 
impounded dog may recover possession of such dog upon the payment for the cost of such dog's 
impoundment, unless the dog has been mistreated or is a vicious dog.  

(d) If an owner, keeper or possessor of a dog impounded under the provisions of this Article refuses to 
claim such dog, does not claim such dog or does not pay the costs for such dog's impoundment, all 
within six (6) days after the receipt of the written or verbal notice required by this Article, then such dog 
shall come under the authority of the Department for final disposition, either by adoption or destruction.  

(e) If an owner, keeper or possessor of a dog impounded under the provisions of this Article is unknown, 
said dog shall be held for a period of six (6) days, after which said dog will come under the authority 
of the Department for final disposition, either by adoption or destruction.  

(f) An officer of the Department may exercise his discretion and return a dog found running at large to 
such dog's owner, keeper or possessor if the dog's owner, keeper or possessor first pays a "Release 
in Lieu of Impoundment Fee" as provided for in Section 7-3-110 of this Article.  

(a) Any Animal Services Officer may impound into the custody of any licensed shelter or other impound 
facility any dog found to be at large.  An Animal Services Officer may also impound any pet animal at 
the direction of a law enforcement officer made in accordance with and pursuant to lawful process.  

(b) Upon the impoundment of any dog or other pet animal, the Department Arapahoe County shall make 
a prompt and reasonable attempt to identify the owner or keeper of the dog or other pet animal and, 
upon identification of the owner or keeper, shall cause written notice to be provided to the owner or 
keeper of the impoundment and the location of the impoundment facility.  As used herein, a reasonable 
attempt to identify shall mean that the Animal Services Officer checks the dog or other pet animal for 
any identifying information, including identification tags or imbedded microchip, and a search for social 
media postings related to the dog or other pet animal.  Written notice may be provided by email, text 
message or other electronic means, personal delivery to the owner or keeper of the dog or other pet 
animal, or by posting the notice at the residence of the owner or keeper of the dog or other pet animal.   

 

(c) Dogs and other pet animals impounded pursuant to the provisions of this Section 7-2-90 Resolution 
or pursuant to the direction of a law enforcement officer are subject to disposition in accordance with 
the requirements of applicable state law, including Section 35-80-106.3, C.R.S., and 18-9-202.5, 
C.R.S., the requirements of the licensed shelter or other impound facility, and of any applicable order 
of a Court of competent jurisdiction.  Such requirements may include a requirement for the payment 
of impound fees prior to the return of the dog or other pet animal.  

 

(d) In lieu of impoundment of a dog caught running at large, provided that the Animal Service Officer 
is able to identify and locate the owner or keeper at the time of capture, the dog may be returned 
directly to that owner or keeper upon payment of a "Return to Owner Fee" in the amount 
established as provided in Section 7-2-110 of the Foxfield Municipal Code this Resolution.  Upon 
capture of a dog at large, the Animal Services Officer shall attempt to identify the owner by 
checking for an identification tag on or microchip in the dog, and if the owner or keeper is identified, 
the Animal Service Officer shall first make an attempt to contact the owner or keeper and return 
the dog in exchange for payment of the of the “Return to Owner Fee,” prior to taking the dog to an 
impound facility.   

 



(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-100.   Enforcement and liability. 

Pursuant to Section 30-15-104, C.R.S., as amended, tThe Board of Trustees, the Board of County 
Commissioners of Arapahoe County, and their its officers, agents,any of their assistants or employees or 
any other persons authorized to enforce the provisions of this Article shall not be held responsible for any 
accident or subsequent disease that may occur to a dogan animal in connection with the administration of 
this Article.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-110.   Fees. 

Fees authorized under this Ordinance shall be set in such amounts as approved in a separate resolution 
by the Board of Trustees. 

 
The following fees are established for the administration of this Article:  

(1) Annual license fees:  

a. A spayed female or neutered male dog annual fee: twelve dollars ($12.00).  

b. An unspayed female or unneutered male dog annual fee: twenty-four dollars ($24.00).  

The above license fees shall be waived for one (1) dog for owners over the age of sixty-five (65) years.  

(2) Impoundment fees:  

a. Cost for first day of impoundment: sixty-five dollars ($65.00).  

b. Subsequent daily costs for care and feeding during impoundment: ten dollars ($10.00).  

(3) Release in lieu of impoundment fee: thirty dollars ($30.00).  

(4) Dead animal pickup for disposal fee:  

a. Animals zero (0) through fifteen (15) pounds: fifteen dollars ($15.00).  

b. Animals sixteen (16) through fifty (50) pounds: thirty dollars ($30.00).  

c. Animals fifty-one (51) through one hundred (100) pounds: fifty dollars ($50.00).  

d. Animals exceeding one hundred (100) pounds: seventy-five dollars ($75.00).  

(5) Animal pickup for destruction and disposal:  

a. Small animals (dog, cat): thirty dollars ($30.00).  

b. An additional shelter fee will apply if the animal is destroyed.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012; Ord. 02 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-120.   Enforcement/: Ppeace Oofficer Ddesignation. 

The provisions of this Article shall be enforced as designated by Arapahoe County  primarily by the 
Department, with assistance from the Arapahoe County Sheriff's Department. For purposes of enforcement 
and pursuant to Section 30-15-105, C.R.S., Arapahoe County Animal Control Services Officers may issue 
summonses and complaints to a citation to enforce this Article.  



(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-130.   Violations/; Sstrict Lliability. 

Violations of any provision of this Article shall be proven by establishing beyond a reasonable doubt 
that a person voluntarily acted or omitted to perform an act which such person was capable of performing, 
and that such act or omission was contrary to any provision of this Article constituting a violation. It shall 
not be necessary to prove a culpable mental state on the part of any person with respect to any material 
element of any violation. Any violations of this Article are ones of "strict liability," as defined by Title 18, 
Article 1, C.R.S.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-140.   Penalties. 

(a) In accordance with 30-15-102(1), C.R.S., eEEach violation of any provision of this Article which 
constitutes a class 2 petty offense or a municipal offense, notwithstanding the provisions of Section 
18-1.3-503, C.R.S., shall be punishable upon conviction by a fine not to exceed one thousand dollars 
($1,000.00) or by imprisonment in the County Jail for not more than ninety (90) days, or by both such 
fine and imprisonment for each separate offense.  

(b) Any offense and repeated offenses of Section 7-2-70 of this Article shall require a mandatory court 
appearance. Each violation of Section 7-2-70 shall be punishable, upon conviction, by a fine not less 
than five hundred dollars ($500.00) nor more than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) or by 
imprisonment in the County jail for not more than ninety (90) days, or by both such fine and 
imprisonment for each separate offense.  

(c) By the authority granted in Section 30-15-102, C.R.S., and iIn addition to Subsection (a) above, the 
penalty assessment procedures as provided for in Title 16, Article 2, Part 2, C.R.S., are herein adopted 
by reference. If, in the discretion of the Town Director, such penalty assessment procedures are 
utilized in relation to class 2 petty offense violations or municipal offenses of this Article, except for 
violations of Section 7-2-70 of this Article, the following graduated penalty assessment schedule shall 
be applicable:  

(1) First offense: fifty dollars ($50.00).  

(2) Second repeated offense: one hundred dollars ($100.00).  

(3) Third repeated offense: three hundred dollars ($300.00).  

(4) Fourth  or more repeated offense: five hundred dollars ($500.00mandatory court appearance).  

(5) Fifth and above repeated offenses: mandatory court appearance.  

(5) Each and every incident during which a violation of any section occurs shall be deemed a 
separate violation. Repeated offenses shall be cumulative only within a three-hundred-sixty-five-
day period counting from and including the day of the first violation.  

(7) Repeated offense means a conviction of a person for an additional repeated violation of the same 
provisions of this Article, for which violation of said same provision of such person has been 
previously convicted.  

(d) Each violation of any provision of this Article which constitutes a class 2 misdemeanor by involving 
bodily injury to any person by a dog or animal shall be punished upon conviction as provided for in 
Section 18.1.3-501, C.R.S.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  



Sec. 7-2-150.   Incorporation of state statutes. 

All provisions of Title 30, Article 15, Part 1, C.R.S., to the extent applicable to the Town of Foxfield, 
are hereby adopted and incorporated by reference into this Article.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

Sec. 7-2-160.   Applicability. 

The provisions of this Article shall apply to and may be enforced within all areas of the Town.  

(Ord. 3 §3, 2010; Ord. 1 §1, 2012)  

 



Sec. 7-2-10.   Definitions. 

For the purposes of this Article, the following terms shall have the following meanings:  

"Abandon" means the leaving of a pet animal without adequate provisions for the animal's proper 
care by its owner or keeper. 

Aggressive dog means a dog which, without intentional provocation, engages in any of the 
following behaviors:  

a. Threatens a person by encroaching onto public property or property of another from a vehicle 
or from the owner's or custodian's yard through, under or over a fence;  

b. Injures another domestic animal while off the owner's or custodian's property;  

c. Approaches any person in an apparent attitude of attack or in a terrorizing or menacing 
manner; or  

d. Causes bodily injury to any person.  

 Animal Services Officer means any person authorized by Arapahoe County to enforce the 
provisions of this Article and shall also include the Arapahoe County Sheriff and any Arapahoe 
County Sheriff's Deputy.  

 

"At large" means a dog that is not under physical control or voice control, as defined in this Section 
1, while on public property, or, means a dog that is on private property without the permission of the 
property owner or his/her agent; further, with respect to a dog on a County-owned open space, park, 
or trail, “at large” also means that the dog is in violation of any requirements as stated in Arapahoe 
County displayed signage applicable to dogs on such property (for example, designated signage may 
indicate that all dogs must be under physical control, or indicate that certain areas are off limits to 
dogs).    

 
Attack means an assault against a person or domestic animal; whereby physical contact is made 

in an apparently hostile or terrorizing manner.  

Bite means to seize with teeth or jaws so as to enter, grip, wound or cause a puncture to the skin.  

Bodily injury means a physical injury to a person or animal resulting in bruising, muscle tears, skin 
lacerations, or broken bones that may or may not require professional medical treatment, which may 
include, but is not limited to, sutures or cosmetic surgery. Such injuries may or may not result in 
permanent disfigurement, protracted loss or impairment of the functions of any part or organ of the 
body, or death. 

 
Control means:  

a. Having a dog on a leash, rope or other means of restraint so that freedom of the dog's 
movement is restricted within a ten-foot radius;  

b. Having a dog exclusively within the private property of the owner, keeper or possessor of a 
dog.  

c. Accompanying a dog on public property when said dog is at all times within twenty (20) feet 
of and immediately responsive to the voice commands of the dog's owner, keeper or 
possessor.  

d. Accompanying a dog on private property with permission of the owner of such private 
property, when said dog is at all times within forty (40) feet of and immediately responsive to 
the voice commands of said dog's owner, keeper or possessor.  

C.R.S. means the Colorado Revised Statutes.  

clerk
Typewritten Text
Exhibit B



"Cruelty to Animals" means to knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence, overdrive, 
overload, overwork, torture, torment, deprive of necessary sustenance, unnecessarily or cruelly beat, 
needlessly mutilate, needlessly kill, carry in or upon any vehicle in a cruel manner, or otherwise 
mistreat or neglect any animal or cause or procure it to be done, or having the charge and custody of 
any animal, fail to provide it with proper food, drink or protection from the weather consistent with the 
species, breed, and type of animal, or abandon the animal. See Sections 35-42-107(2) and 18-9-202, 
C.R.S., as amended. 

 
Custody means providing food, shelter, water, other sustenance or care for a dog.  

"Dog" means any member of the species Canis familiaris. 
 
Owner or Keeper means any person eighteen (18) years of age or older, an unemancipated child 

under the age of eighteen (18) years, or the parent or guardian of any child under the age of eighteen 
(18) years who owns, keeps, harbors, possesses, has custody of, or is responsible for exercising 
physical or voice control over a dog or other animal.  

Person means any natural person or individual, corporation, business trust, estate, trust, 
partnership, association, business or any other legal entity, but shall exclude all governments, 
governmental subdivisions or governmental agencies.  

   Pet animal means an animal as defined in 30-15-101(3), C.R.S., as amended. 
 
"Physical Control" means a dog is on a leash, rope or other means of physical restraint by a 

person physically capable of handling such dog so that freedom of the dog's movement is restricted. 

 
Possessor means a person who, or whose unemancipated child under the age of eighteen (18) 

years who resides with said person, has voluntarily assumed custody of a dog or the responsibility for 
the control of a dog, through means other than as an owner or keeper. A person is not a possessor if 
he, or his unemancipated child under the age of eighteen (18) years who resides with said person, 
assumes temporary custody of a dog for the sole purpose of summoning animal control authorities or 
for the sole purpose of seeking emergency aid or medical treatment for a dog.  

Running at large or runs at large means a dog that is upon public property or upon the private 
property of a person other than the dog's owner, keeper or possessor, when said dog is not under the 
control of the dog's owner, keeper or possessor; or a dog that is upon the private property of a person 
other than the dog's owner, keeper or possessor, without permission from an owner of the private 
property or his agent, even if said dog is under the control of the dog's owner, keeper or possessor.  

Serious bodily injury means an injury to a person or domestic animal caused by a dog which, 
either at the time of the actual injury or at a later time, involves a substantial risk of death, a substantial 
risk of serious permanent disfigurement, a substantial risk of protracted loss or impairment of the 
function of any part or organ of the body or breaks, fractures or injuries that require corrective surgery.  

Vicious dog means:  

a. A dog whose freedom of movement is not restricted by confinement or by attachment to a 
leash, rope or other means of restraint; and which dog, in a dangerous or terrorizing manner, 
has physical contact with a person or domestic animal, with or without causing bodily injury. 
Said restriction shall prevent the escape of such dog from its owner, keeper or possessor or 
from such owner's keeper's or possessor's property; and shall prevent such dog from 
attacking or injuring a human being or domestic animal.  

b. Any dog which has caused bodily injury to a human being or domestic animal during two (2) 
or more separate episodes.  

c. The control provisions of Subparagraphs a. and b. above shall not apply to any dog while 
actually working livestock or assisting law enforcement officers or while being trained for any 
of these pursuits. A dog owned, kept or possessed primarily as a domestic pet on residential 



property shall not be excluded from Subparagraphs a. and b. above and shall not be 
considered a guard or police dog;  

d. Episodes wherein a dog attacked, bit, caused bodily injury, caused serious bodily injury or 
caused death to a human being or domestic animal, when said human being or domestic 
animal intentionally provoked such dog's action without justifiable reason, shall be excluded 
from Subparagraphs a. and b. above.  

e. The exclusions provided for in Subparagraphs c. and d. above shall be affirmative defenses.  

“Voice Control” means a dog is immediately and reliably obedient to any voice or sound command 
given by an owner or keeper who is able to prevent the dog from charging, chasing, or otherwise 
disturbing or interfering with any person, pet animal, livestock, or wildlife, regardless of the distance 
involved or the presence of any distraction or provocation. 

Sec. 7-2-20 Rabies Vaccination Required 

(a) Any owner or keeper of a dog commits a class 2 petty offense or a municipal offense if such dog is 
more than four (4) months of age and the owner or keeper is unable to provide proof when 
requested of a then current rabies vaccination, issued by a licensed veterinarian.  A rabies 
certificate or tag current at the time that it is requested, and supplied by a licensed veterinarian, 
shall serve as proof of rabies vaccination. 

 
(b) An owner or keeper of a dog is exempt from the requirements of this Section 7-2-20 if the owner or 

keeper can produce a signed letter from a licensed veterinarian stating that such vaccination would 
be detrimental to the health and well-being of such dog. 

Sec. 7-2-30.   Dogs At Large. 

(a) Any owner or keeper of a dog commits a class 2 petty offense or a municipal offense if such dogis 
found to be at large.  

(b) The provisions of this Section shall not apply to any dog while working livestock, locating or 
retrieving wild game in season for a licensed hunter, assisting law enforcement officers, performing 
search and rescue functions for an emergency services provider, or while being trained for any of 
these pursuits.  

(c) A violation of this Section 7-3-40 shall not be proven solely by the uncorroborated testimony of a 

single witness unless the testimony is corroborated by the submission of photographic or video 

evidence, or unless the witness is an Animal Services Officer.  
 

(d) Repeated offenses shall be cumulative only within a 365 day period, counting from the day of the 
last violation. 

Sec. 7-2-40.   Noisy dogs. 

(a) Any owner or keeper of a dog commits a class 2 petty offense or a municipal offense if such dog 

individually, or in combination with another dog or dogs together, makes any noises or 

disturbances by barking, howling, yelping, whining or other utterance which is audible beyond the 

premises on which the dog is kept, in excess of twenty (20) consecutive minutes during the day 

(7 a.m. to 9 p.m.) or in excess of ten (10) consecutive minutes during the night (9:01 p.m. to 6:59 

a.m.) and/or a cumulative period in excess of one-hundred twenty (120) minutes during any 

twenty-four (24) hour period.  

 



(b) No citation for a violation of this Section 7-2-40 shall be issued unless at least one written warning, 
signed by the Animal Services Officer and at least one complainant, has been issued to an owner 
or keeper of the dog or dogs that have exceeded the noise limits. Such written warning shall contain 
the date and time when the violation occurred and a brief explanation of the nature of the noise 
complaint. Once a written warning has been issued, a citation may be issued for any violations that 
occur seven (7) or more days after the written warning is issued without the necessity of an 
additional warning.  
 

(c) No citation shall be issued, and no conviction shall occur for a violation of this Section 7-2-40 unless 
there are two (2) complaining witnesses from separate households who have signed such citation; 
except that only one (1) complaining witness shall be required to sign the citation under either of 
the following circumstances: 

 1) An Animal Services Officer or Deputy Sheriff has personally investigated the complaint of a single 
complainant and observed the nature and duration of the noise created by the dog and can testify as 
to such observations; or 

 2) A complainant has presented to the Animal Services Officer, at the time of the complaint, a video 
and/or audio recording that corroborates the alleged violation. 

(d) Repeated offenses shall be cumulative only within a 365 day period, counting from the day of the 
last violation. 

 
Sec. 7-2-50 Cruelty to Animals 

 
 An owner or keeper of an animal commits a violation of this Section, which is also  a class I 

misdemeanor under §18-9-202, C.R.S., as amended, if he/she commits cruelty to animals. 

Sec. 7-2-60.   Approach in an Aggressive Manner  

Any owner or keeper of a dog commits a class 2 petty offense or a municipal offense if such dog, while 
off the owner’s premises and without provocation, approaches any person in an apparent attitude of attack 
and demonstrates aggressive behavior, including but not limited to lunging, snarling, growling, barking, or 
snapping. Such behavior may restrict the movement of a person, including but not limited to cornering or 
circling, and such behavior by such dog may, but need not, result in actual physical contact from such  

Sec. 7-2-70.  Pet Animal Causing Injury 

 
Any owner or keeper of a pet animal commits a class 2. 2 petty offense or a municipal offense if such pet 
animal, causes injury to another pet animal or livestock.   

Sec. 7-2-80.    Affirmative Defense 

If a dog or other pet animal is provoked into biting or attacking, which results in bodily injury, such 
provocation shall constitute an affirmative defense. Provocation shall be determined by one or more of 
the following: 
 

(a) That, at the time of the incident, the victim was committing or attempting to commit a criminal 
offense against the dog/pet animal owner or the dog/pet animal owner’s property; or 

 
(b) That, at the time of the incident, the victim tormented, abused, or inflicted injury upon the dog or 

pet animal, which resulted in the incident; or  
 



(c) That, at the time of the incident involving the dog or other pet animal, which caused injury to or 

the death of another animal, the injured and/or deceased animal was at large. 

 

 

Sec. 7-2-90.   Impoundment and Disposition of Animals. 

(a) Any Animal Services Officer may impound into the custody of any licensed shelter or other impound 
facility any dog found to be at large.  An Animal Services Officer may also impound any pet animal 
at the direction of a law enforcement officer made in accordance with and pursuant to lawful 
process.  

(b) Upon the impoundment of any dog or other pet animal, Arapahoe County shall make a prompt and 
reasonable attempt to identify the owner or keeper of the dog or other pet animal and, upon 
identification of the owner or keeper, shall cause written notice to be provided to the owner or 
keeper of the impoundment and the location of the impoundment facility.  As used herein, a 
reasonable attempt to identify shall mean that the Animal Services Officer checks the dog or other 
pet animal for any identifying information, including identification tags or imbedded microchip, and 
a search for social media postings related to the dog or other pet animal.  Written notice may be 
provided by email, text message or other electronic means, personal delivery to the owner or 
keeper of the dog or other pet animal, or by posting the notice at the residence of the owner or 
keeper of the dog or other pet animal.   

(c) Dogs and other pet animals impounded pursuant to the provisions of this Section 7-2-90 or 
pursuant to the direction of a law enforcement officer are subject to disposition in accordance with 
the requirements of applicable state law, including Section 35-80-106.3, C.R.S., and 18-9-202.5, 
C.R.S., the requirements of the licensed shelter or other impound facility, and of any applicable 
order of a Court of competent jurisdiction.  Such requirements may include a requirement for the 
payment of impound fees prior to the return of the dog or other pet animal.  

(d) In lieu of impoundment of a dog caught running at large, provided that the Animal Service Officer 
is able to identify and locate the owner or keeper at the time of capture, the dog may be returned 
directly to that owner or keeper upon payment of a "Return to Owner Fee" in the amount established 
as provided in Section 7-2-110 of the Foxfield Municipal Code .  Upon capture of a dog at large, 
the Animal Services Officer shall attempt to identify the owner by checking for an identification tag 
on or microchip in the dog, and if the owner or keeper is identified, the Animal Service Officer shall 
first make an attempt to contact the owner or keeper and return the dog in exchange for payment 
of the of the “Return to Owner Fee,” prior to taking the dog to an impound facility.   

Sec. 7-2-100.   Enforcement and liability. 

The Board of Trustees, the Board of County Commissioners of Arapahoe County, and their officers, 
agents, employees or any other persons authorized to enforce the provisions of this Article shall not be held 
responsible for any accident or subsequent disease that may occur to an animal in connection with the 
administration of this Article. 

Sec. 7-2-110.   Fees. 

Fees authorized under this Ordinance shall be set in such amounts as approved in a separate resolution 
by the Board of Trustees. 

 

 



Sec. 7-2-120.   Enforcement/ Peace Officer Designation. 

The provisions of this Article shall be enforced as designated by Arapahoe County  . For purposes of 
enforcement and pursuant to Section 30-15-105, C.R.S., Arapahoe County Animal Services Officers may 
issue a citation to enforce this Article.  

Sec. 7-2-130.   Violations/ Strict Liability. 

Violations of any provision of this Article shall be proven by establishing beyond a reasonable doubt 
that a person voluntarily acted or omitted to perform an act which such person was capable of performing, 
and that such act or omission was contrary to any provision of this Article constituting a violation. It shall 
not be necessary to prove a culpable mental state on the part of any person with respect to any material 
element of any violation. Any violations of this Article are ones of "strict liability," as defined by Title 18, 
Article 1, C.R.S.  

Sec. 7-2-140.   Penalties. 

(a) Each violation of any provision of this Article which constitutes a class 2 petty offense or a municipal 
offense shall be punishable upon conviction by a fine not to exceed one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) 
or by imprisonment in the County Jail for not more than ninety (90) days, or by both such fine and 
imprisonment for each separate offense.  

(b) Any offense and repeated offenses of Section 7-2-70 of this Article shall require a mandatory court 
appearance. Each violation of Section 7-2-70 shall be punishable, upon conviction, by a fine not less 
than five hundred dollars ($500.00) nor more than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) or by 
imprisonment in the County jail for not more than ninety (90) days, or by both such fine and 
imprisonment for each separate offense.  

(c) In addition to Subsection (a) above, the penalty assessment procedures as provided for in Title 16, 
Article 2, Part 2, C.R.S., are herein adopted by reference. If, in the discretion of the Town , such penalty 
assessment procedures are utilized in relation to class 2 petty offense violations or municipal offenses 
of this Article, except for violations of Section 7-2-70 of this Article, the following graduated penalty 
assessment schedule shall be applicable:  

(1) First offense: fifty dollars ($50.00).  

(2) Second repeated offense: one hundred dollars ($100.00).  

(3) Third repeated offense: three hundred dollars ($300.00).  

(4) Fourth or more offense: mandatory court appearance.  

(5) Each and every incident during which a violation of any section occurs shall be deemed a 
separate violation.  

Sec. 7-2-150.   Incorporation of state statutes. 

All provisions of Title 30, Article 15, Part 1, C.R.S., to the extent applicable to the Town of Foxfield, 
are hereby adopted and incorporated by reference into this Article.  

Sec. 7-2-160.   Applicability. 

The provisions of this Article shall apply to and may be enforced within all areas of the Town.  



                                                  Study Session  

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:  Mayor Jones and Members of the Board 
 
FROM:  Karen Proctor, Town Administrator 
 
DATE:  August 5, 2021  
 
RE:  Accessory Dwelling Units 
 

DISCUSSION: 

This study session is to discuss the possibility of adding a section to 16-2-50 of the Municipal 

Code to allow accessory dwelling units. 

 

Attached as Exhibit A is the municipal code Section 16-2-50 with a few suggested changes.  The 

accessory dwelling units would be added as letter (e) at the end of section 16-2-50.  A draft of 

this suggested language is provided as Exhibit B. 

 

EXHIBIT: 

Exhibit A:  Section 16-2-50 of the Foxfield Municipal Code redlined 

Exhibit B: Draft Language for Accessory Dwelling Units 

 

 



Sec. 16-2-50.   Large Lot Rural Residential District (RR). 

(a)  Characteristics and Objectives. The Large Lot Rural Residential District is designed to accommodate 
very low-density single-family residential uses on large lots. The purpose of the RR Zone District is to 
promote the continuance of single-family neighborhoods by:  

(1)  Allowing for larger lot development that assists in retaining the rural residential character of the 
Town;  

(2)  Allowing for limited home occupations; and  

(3)  Ensuring that new development retains the natural conditions of the environment and preserves 
the openness of the land.  

(b)  Use Regulations.  

(1)  Permitted principal uses:  

a.  Single-family detached dwelling units.  

b.  Property owned by the Town of Foxfield, or another governmental entity and used as open 
space.  

(2)  Permitted accessory structures and uses:  

a.  Structures and uses, subordinate and incidental to the permitted principal structure or use, 
located on the same lot. Any structure less than one hundred twenty (120) two hundred (200) 
gross square feet shall not be deemed an accessory structure within the meaning of this 
Article; however, all structures, regardless of size, must meet the dimensional requirements 
specified in Subsections (c)(l) through (c)(7) below. All enclosed structures must also meet 
the requirement of Subsection (c)(8) below. There shall be a maximum of two (2) enclosed 
structures that are each less than one hundred twenty (120) two hundred (200) gross square 
feet.  

b.  Parking for the principal use.  

c.  Home occupations, as specified in Section 16-4-10 of this Chapter.  

d.  Keeping of animals as specified in Section 16-4-20 of this Chapter. Kennels, as defined in 
Section 16-6-10 of this Chapter, are prohibited in the RR Zone District.  

e.  Private garages.  

f.  Shelter for agricultural implements and tools used to maintain premises.  

g.  Stables and barns.  

h.  Greenhouses (products to be for use or consumption of lot residents only) not to exceed two 
hundred (200) square feet GFA.  

i.  Sporting courts, tennis courts, swimming pools and other similar structures, provided that they 
are located in the side or rear yard of the zoning lot.  

j.  Roof- or ground-mounted solar arrays and solar voltaic systems that serve a single residence 
or structure. Ground-mounted solar arrays shall not exceed twelve (12) feet in height.  

k.  Small wind energy conversion systems that are noncommercial and do not exceed fifteen 
(15) feet in height.  

l.  Other uses which are clearly accessory or incidental to the primary permitted uses.  

(3)  Special review uses:  

a.  Public buildings, civic facilities, schools (except public schools exempt from municipal land 
use control pursuant to state law) and places of worship.  

clerk
Typewritten Text
Exhibit A



b.  An owner-occupied or nonprofit group home for the aged and homes for the developmentally 
disabled, handicapped and mentally ill, as these terms are defined by Section 31-23-303, 
C.R.S., may be permitted if it serves as a permitted principal use and is for no more than 
eight (8) persons, is not located within seven hundred fifty (750) feet of another such group 
home and the owner or operator resides and maintains primary residency within the group 
home. Where nine (9) or more persons are to occupy a group home or if the group home is 
not defined in Section 31-23-303, C.R.S., such group home shall be permitted only upon 
approval of a special review use.  

c.  Alternative energy technology, other than solar arrays as defined in subsection (j) above and 
wind energy conversion systems in excess of the requirements as defined in subsection (k) 
above, or not otherwise defined in this Chapter.  

d.  Grading of a site that increases or decreases the original elevation by more than four (4) 
feet.  

e.  Public utilities.  

f.  Temporary structures over one hundred twenty (120) gross square feet that comply with the 
provisions of Section 16-3-120 of this Chapter.  

g.  Commercial mobile radio service facilities.  

(c)  Dimensional Requirements.  

(1)  Minimum lot area: One (1) dwelling unit and one (1) accessory dwelling unit per one hundred five 
thousand (105,000) square feet, except that any lot in excess of eighty-five thousand (85,000) 
square feet but less than one hundred five thousand (105,000) square feet that was a parcel of 
record at the time of the adoption of these Regulations shall be considered a legal zoning lot.  

(2)  Minimum lot width: one hundred twenty-five (125) feet.  

(3)  Maximum impervious coverage: twenty-five percent (25%).  

(4)  Front yard setback: fifty (50) feet for principal and accessory structures.  

(5)  Side yard setback: twenty-five (25) feet for principal and accessory structures.  

(6)  Rear yard setback: twenty-five (25) feet for principal and accessory structures.  

(7)  Maximum building height: thirty-one (31) feet principal structure; twenty-one (21) feet accessory 
structure, except that small, ornamental rooftop appurtenances such as weathervanes may 
project five (5) feet above the roofline. The maximum height of the structure shall be reduced by 
the average height of any fill that increases the existing grade under or immediately surrounding 
the structure.  

(8)  Minimum separation between enclosed structures: twenty-five (25) feet.  

(d)  Development Standards Specific to the RR Zone District.  

(1)  Residential development in the RR (Large Lot Rural Residential) Zoning District may be served 
by public or private water and sanitary sewer systems; provided, however, that, in the event 
connection is sought to a public sewer system, connection to the public water system shall be 
required as a condition of connection to the public sewer system. Any development not consisting 
of solely single-family residences approved in the RR Zoning District shall be served by approved 
public water and sanitary sewer. Any development that is required to be served by the Town's 
public water system or any property or development that chooses to be served by the Town's 
public water system may still use any properly permitted wells for exterior irrigation use only.  

(2)  The parking or storage of vehicles, materials and equipment shall be limited to vehicles and 
equipment intended for the personal use of the owner or occupant of the residence. A business 
vehicle provided to a resident for personal use is permitted.  



(3)  Exterior lights, whether building-mounted or freestanding, shall comply with the provisions of 
Section 16-3-80 of this Chapter. Building-mounted exterior lights shall not protrude above the 
eave line. Freestanding lights shall not exceed twenty-five (25) feet in height.  

(4)  No accessory structure shall contain residential living quarters.  

(54)  Accessory structures and uses are not permitted unless and until the principal permitted use 
has been established on the property.  

(56)  The total building gross floor area (GFA) of all enclosed accessory structures may not exceed 
two thousand (2,000) square feet, and there shall be a maximum of two (2) enclosed accessory 
structures.  

(67)  Accessory structures shall have a maximum side wall height of fourteen (14) feet from finished 
grade measured from the foundation. The roof shall have a minimum pitch of 4 in 12.  

(78)  Any roof overhang constructed on an accessory structure may not encroach into a required 
front, rear or side yard setback or into the required separation distance between structures.  

(89)  Architectural renderings, elevation drawings, materials and site plans for all proposed accessory 
structures must be submitted to the Town Planner.  

(910)  The exterior finish and design of an enclosed accessory structure shall meet the following 
minimum requirements. Greenhouses, pergolas, gazebos or similar unenclosed structures are 
exempt from this Paragraph.  

a.  There shall be eaves or overhangs that have a horizontal depth of at least eight (8) inches.  

b.  For structures up to one thousand (1,000) square feet, there shall be at least one (1) door 
for human or vehicular passage and/or one (1) window on each of at least two (2) sides of 
the structure, one (1) of which fronts upon a street. Where a window is nominated to meet 
the requirements of this paragraph, it shall satisfy the criteria for emergency egress as 
defined by the International Residential Code as adopted in Chapter 18 of this Municipal 
Code.  

c.  For structures over one thousand (1,000) square feet, there shall be a combination of at least 
two doors for human or vehicular passage and/or windows on each of at least two sides of 
the structure, one of which fronts upon a street. Where a window is nominated to meet the 
requirements of this paragraph, it shall satisfy the criteria for emergency egress as defined 
by the International Residential Code as adopted in Chapter 18 of this Municipal Code.  

(e) Insert Development Standards Specific to Accessory Dwelling Units 

(Ord. 01 § 1, 2017)  

Editor's note— Ord. 01, § 1, adopted Feb. 16, 2017, repealed the former § 16-2-50 and enacted 

a new section as set out herein. The former § 16-2-50 pertained to similar subject matter and 

derived from Ord. 5, § 1, adopted in 2009; Ord. 1, § 1, adopted in 2012; Ord. 06, § 1, adopted in 

2013; and Ord. 04, §§ 2, 3, adopted in 2014.  

 



(e) Development Standards Specific to Accessory Dwelling Units. 

(1) Purpose: Accessory dwelling units are intended to: 

a. Provide a mix of housing that responds to changing family needs; 

b. Provide a means for residents, seniors, single parents and families with grown 

children to remain in their homes and neighborhoods, obtain extra income, security, 

companionship and services; 

c. Provide a broader range of accessible and more affordable housing; 

d. Create new housing dwelling units while respecting the look and scale of single-family 

detached neighborhoods. 

(2) Creation of accessory dwelling units:  An accessory dwelling unit may be created by: 

a. Converting an existing living area, attic, basement or garage; 

b. Addition of floor area to an existing single-family house; 

c. Construction of a detached accessory dwelling unit on the single-family lot; or 

d. Construction of a new single-family detached house with an internal or detached 

accessory dwelling unit.  

(3) General standards:  All accessory dwelling units shall meet the following standards: 

a. The property where the principal use and the accessory dwelling unit are located shall 

be under the same ownership.  

b. An accessory dwelling unit shall comply with all Dimensional Requirements specified 

in Subsection (c)(1) to (c)(8) and all Development Standards Specific to the RR Zone 

District specified in Subsection (d)(1) to (d)(10). An accessory dwelling unit may have the 

same roof pitch as the primary structure in lieu of the required minimum roof pitch of 4 

in 12. 

c. Mobile homes, recreational vehicles, and travel trailers shall not be used as accessory 

dwelling units.  

d. An accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed 900 square feet in gross floor area. When 

an accessory dwelling unit is located inside an accessory structure used for a separate 

permitted accessory use, only the floor area of the accessory dwelling units shall be 

counted toward the 900 square foot limit.  

e. An accessory dwelling unit shall contain a living/sleeping area and bathroom. An 

accessory dwelling unit may contain a full kitchen.  

f. Accessory dwelling units contained within a primary structure must have a door with 

direct exterior access, a door separating it from the main area of the primary structure, 

and egress meeting the standards of the International Building Code.  

clerk
Typewritten Text
Exhibit B



g. All proposed accessory dwelling units must be permitted by the Town Planner 

regardless of gross square footage.  

h. Limit on number: There shall be no more than one accessory dwelling unit on a lot, 

whether located inside or attached to the primary structure or in a detached structure, 

in addition to the principal single-family detached dwelling. An accessory dwelling unit 

shall not serve as the principal dwelling on the site.  

i. An accessory dwelling unit may have the same or separate utility meter. 

j. An accessory dwelling unit may not be used for short-term rentals (fewer than 30 

days).  

 




